
Oswarp Vesrt (s) Te 

  G LIA uJ E L T _Mexzco (1462-63) __ 

FOIPA tals   

    
  

  

[ A. tt G2- ZiISC 

Parr \) oe 1S



; 
L 

We, 
OQ 

 
 

 
 

 
 

f 
: 

‘ent 
faventery 

Wértsheet 
© 

F
D
8
0
0
 

(3 
(8-77) 

h 
4 

2703 
h
e
 
A
A
 

fy Ml stab 
beled 

= 
Vile Ne; t

0
r
2
i
e
d
 
s
e
e
r
 

Re: 
Date: 

‘mca 
Tyowh 

Description 
No. 

of 
Panes 

Exemptions 
used 

or, 
te 

whom 
referred 

Serial 
Date 

(Type 
of 

communication, 
ta, 

from) 
Atud 

| Heleuned 
(ideatify 

elstute if 
tb) or (3) 

cited) 
 
 

 
 

79 
s/106¥ 

i 

20 
T
1
2
0
6
 

(bk) 
Repeg 

C14 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

f
r
e
 

p
w
?
)
 

i ‘ 
. 

‘ 
f
o
o
-
 

~ 
f/f 

- 
997 

S
U
C
.
 
G
L
Y
 8 

EXZLMIA P
A
T
I
L
.
 

a
s
 

\ 
. 

9 
1 
y 

1 
b 

B
M
L
 
b
o
 

ueh 
Lp) 

L
E
e
E
L
.
 
p
i
l
l
 

(
6
0
0
 

L
e
r
 

B
i
 

L
h
 0 
O
M
E
 

*
 

&. 
7
a
a
t
a
E
E
S
 

—
h
o
r
m
m
s
s
 

ot 
2
s
 
f
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

  ~The ow ow ow af oe oe we ww bie oe we bee gg oe hee we gw ow 

 
 

  
  

caaerre 
g
t
 

an 
a
g
e
 

, 
yt 

“ 

edi M
i
t
t
e
m
b
a
d
i
n
d
a
h
 

sites’) thee alten 
oir 

cbs 
donned 

a 
se 

o
n
 

P
a
s
 
e
e
s
 

o
t
s
 
notechmmcliacncctnctetisttn



- ~~ 

* : 

é * 

ce
 r
e
n
t
 
G
e
 

‘ 
a
o
e
 

‘ 
: 

+
6
 

ee
 
b
e
n
e
a
t
h
 

oe
 

R
O
T
 

m
y
e
r
:
 

t
e
e
n
:
 

e
e
.
 

£eo
rsa

eoo
nta

 t
n 

S
.
C
 

e
o
n
.
 

og
 a
n
e
 
te
 

pe
n 

Ae
 
t
e
 

gr
 
Te
: 

eee 
m
e
g
 te

st
 

b
e
m
 

ee
 

o
m
e
 

tt
 

te
e 

1
 
w
o
m
 
a
r
e
 

ne
 
i
e
 

qa 
on
e 

Tr
e 
e
T
w
 

ET
 a
E 

TE
N 

me
e 

g
e
 

qe
 

e
e
 

P
e
e
 to 

FE
ET

 

; 

’ 
: 3 
2 ja 
a of te: 

i 
ray 
- 43 

L
e
y
t
e
 

A
b
n
 

tn
, 

o
e
 

e
r
e
®
 
Ch
 
h
a
a
t
 

fy 

w
o
 

ow
en
 

‘ a
 i
e 

  

  

QR 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION 

WASHINGTON 25, D. G 

SCR T 0. ow 

Za 
LEE HARVEY OSWALD ~~ 

ath 

SBECRET 

Group I 

Excluded from Automatic 
Downgrading and Declassification 

1 18 1964 

fs
a 

  

NE (08 S708" -877 
wee oe 

“a
pe
 d

y



ma
y 

ee
s 

w
a
s
 

we
r 

- 
e
e
e
 

de
: 

gq
ys
t 

. 
a
e
 

Ir
me

ty
e 

o
t
:
 

1 
a
e
 

R
N
Y
 

A
U
N
 

YT
 
N
E
N
 

Re
 

OH
 
O
D
 
O
N
T
 
M
O
O
N
E
E
 

ST
 N
Y
T
 
Up

 
o«7

! 
A
R
 

R
T
 

I
 

pe
e 

we
t 

1 o
c
e
e
a
t
e
y
 

no
te
 
en
h 

to
r 

9 e
on
ro
ns
rg
t 

a
 

as 2 
r
o
v
e
 

ne
se
 t

e 
ye
y 

ve
 

‘ 
Pa
ta
 
o
n
y
 

‘+ * 
t
h
n
 

e
 

ft 

te 
Se
te
 n
g
s
 

ay
e 
e
e
e
 

p
a
l
 Me
. 

os
 

Ai
g 
wt
 

R
O
E
 
He
 
e
p
s
 c
o
w
s
 

“a
ne
 

te
es
 

: 
cel

al 
311

 
el

a 
eta

 
ke 

el 
ne 

ce
e 

P
e
t
 
be

d 
S
d
 

be
 
C
e
a
 

e
I
 

1 
w
a
n
e
 

eo 

16
 

‘ 
of

 
w
e
s
.
 

o
s
e
 

  

e
I
 

e
e
 
F
e
 

8 

TI, 

oar 

  

oN . —_ 

CO Qo 

SY eM weve 
o 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

LINTRODUCT ION 

TRAVEL TO MEXICO BY LEE HARVEY OSWALD 
(September 26-27, 1963) 

(A) 

(B) 

(Cc) 

(D) 

(E) 

(F) 

(G) 

(H) 

(T) 

(J) 

OSWALD's Application for United States 
Passport, June 24, 1963 

OSWALD's Mexican Tourist Visa 

Results of FBI Laboratory Examination 
of OSWALD‘s Tourist Card 

Closing of United States-Mexican Border 

Mexican Newspaper, "Excelsior," 
November 25, 1963, Issue ret 
OSWALD's Trip to Mexico 

Checks Made on Compania de Aviacion 
Passenger Manifests for September 26-27, 

1963 ao 

Check at OSWALD’s Port of Entry 

into Mexico 

Check of Flecha Roja (Red Arrow) Baggage 

List for Passengers for November 26, 1963, 

Trip from Nuevo Laredo to Mexico, D, F. 

List Obtained of Entry of All Non-Mexican 

Citizens on September 26,-1963, at Nuevo 

Laredo, Tamaulipas, Mexico 

Persons Interviewed in Mexico Who Entered 

Mexico September 26, 1963, at Nuevo Laredo 

 



  

. 
7
 

t
a
 + 

4 

a
e
 

a
u
r
 

w
a
t
 

oh 
P
O
N
E
 

A 
oe
 

of
 

e
e
 

tt
 

a
g
e
n
 

re
r 
e
e
 

w
e
 

~
1
e
e
E
 

4 
4 

s
r
e
e
 
w
t
 
m
m
 

+
 

oe
 

e
e
 

mameon
cgerap

 
ge
e 
tl
pi
re
ti
es
me
n 

ae
, 
ee
 

a
b
e
 

a
 

e
r
g
o
 

re
t 

ee
s 

Pa 
11
a 

Oe
te
re
 

d
e
 

te 
OW
 o

t b
en
 

tb
o 

ne
 “ 

A 
rm
an
 

ee
r 
e
h
 

| b
a»
 C
n
m
r
o
m
r
e
t
n
y
t
 

og
ee
! 

Ve
 

nen
eng

r 
i
 

er
 

ea
re
d 

“8 
we
 

4
 

- 
O
U
 
E
r
n
e
 

SEQRET . 

. Page 

(K) Interview of ROBERTO MORALES, Driver oR 
of Flecha Roja (Red Arrow) Bus No. 516 ‘ 
from Nuevo Laredo to Mexico City on 

trip for September 26 and 27, 1963 28 

(L) Interview of ERNESTO HERNANDEZ, co-driver 
of Flecha Roja (Red Arrow) Bus No. 516 

from Nuevo Laredo to Mexico City on 

September 26 to 27, 1963 " 29 

III, OSWALD IN MEXICO CITY 30 

(A) "New York Times" Newspaper Account ; ‘30 

(B) OSWALD's Visits to Cuban and Soviet 
Diplomatic Establishments - 

Investigation by Mexican Authorities 35 

(C) Other Inquiries by Mexican 
Federal Security Police 42 

(D) Hotel Accommodations of LEE HARVEY 
OSWALD in Mexico City 46 

1. OSWALD's Registration at Hotel 47 

2. Examination of Handwriting on 

Hotel Register by FBI Laboratory 4&7 

3. Identities of Persons at Hotel 
During Same Period as OSWALD 48 

4. Interview of Manager and 

Other Personnel at Hotel 33 

5. Other Inquiries in the Area of 

the Hotel del Comercio, Taxi 

Stands, and Bus Terminals $7 

6. Inquiries in Neighborhood of 

Hotel del Comercio — 58 

- on 

. 
- B = 

_ 

* SECAET : oa. 

  

-
 M
a
h
 

  

ee 
e . > 7 

, 

oof _!= 2.8 p- . 

7 
. re a 2 oe e



  

a 

p
e
m
e
m
m
e
t
e
 

ma
p 

re
ge
 

or 
as
er
t 

ro
ma
in
 

w
w
e
 

c
e
 
w
e
e
 

~
 

e
a
 

a
g
a
r
 
eg
ie
n 

S
O
P
 

UW
 

FR
R 

m
e
r
 

R
O
T
 

T
R
E
 
TE
RT
 
T
e
 

NE
T 

Re 
Te 

tp
 

te 
et
e 

ae
 

N
F
 

ee
 

nye
 

“v
e 
h
a
a
t
 

po
e 

g
e
 

o
s
e
 

o
O
:
 

La
 
de
ep
ee
e 

ar
en
 

te
 

to
 

na
me
 r
ee
tg
ro
ge
el
 

We
 g

ec
e 

mv
t 

+. 
G
l
e
e
 
he
e 

w
e
 

S
a
s
 

w
a
t
o
w
 

+
:
 

e
e
e
 

e
g
 

Br
en

 
em
er
 
S
S
O
P
 

O
e
 

LE
Y 
w
a
y
s
 
E
T
 
TE

T 
Q
E
 R
y
U
T
 
TS
 
Y
e
 

V
R
S
,
 
W
e
r
e
 

a
 

p
e
n
 

TS
 

% 

€ 
M
e
r
 

e
y
e
 

2 
O
w
 
n
e
 

r
e
e
 

n 
” 

e
e
t
 

. 
ws
 

tr
ey
 

t
o
e
 

w
e
 

SECPFET 

7. Interviews of Guests at 

Hotel del Comercio 

8. Reputation of Hotel del Comercio 

OSWALD'S DEPARTURE FROM MEXICO 

(A) 

(B) 

(Cc) 

(D) 

(5) 

(F) 

(G) 

(H) 

(Q) 

(J) 

(x) 

Interview of HERBERT ROBERT VOORHEES, 

Passenger on Transportes del Norte Bus 

Traveling from San Luis Potosi to Nuevo 

Laredo on October 2 to 3, 1963 

Checks of Records of Other Bus Lines 

Transportes del Norte Passenger 

List for October 2, 1963 

Record of Location of Transportation 

Sold to H. O. LEE ; 

Interview of ROLANDO BARRIOS RAMIREZ 

Interview of Personnel at Transportes 

del Norte Terminal, Mexico City 

Interviews of Personnel at Transportes 

‘del Norte Bus Terminal Restaurant, 

Monterrey, Nuevo Leon 

Inquiry at Monterrey, Nuevo Leon 

Main Offices of Transportes del Norte 

Bus Passenger ANASTASIO RUIZ MEZA 

Identified Photographs of LEE HARVEY OSWALD 

Interview of Transportes del Norte 

Passenger JOSE BABRIGA BERNAL 

List Obtained of Departure of Non- 

Mexican Citizens on October 3, 1963, 

at Nuevo Laredo, Tamaulipas 

- C « 

S85 ET 

oy
 

s 
a
e
 

»
 

s
e
k
 

593 

60 

62 

63 

64 

68 

69 

71 

71 

7 

 



we
t 
t
e
e
 

a
y
e
 

‘ 
D
e
 

t
e
 

SECQAET 

r
o
w
e
n
t
a
 

te
 

R
B
 

yo
 

({L) Additional List of Persons Who 

Ie 

ke 

v- - Departed on October 3, 1963, and 

Pp as Entered on September 26, 1963 _ 88 

i : (M) OSWALD's Travel Documents and 
E: Mexican Government Records — 94 

BS | 
Be Ve OTHER INQUIRIES CONCERNING OSWALD'S TRAVEL 99 

re (A) Transportes Frontera Bus Line 99 

fo (B) Inquiry at Flecha Roja Bus Terminal . 105 

- (C) OSWALD's Time of Arrival in Mexico City 106 

ae (D) Efforts to Locate Flecha Roja 
: Passenger List 1060 

(E) Transportes del Norte Passengers 
Originating in Guadalajara 109 

(F) Transportes del Norte Bus Line 
Operations, Monterrey 110 

a
n
a
t
a
s
e
 

te
ra
 

M
e
w
 

(G) Ticketing Procedures by Transportes 

del Norte Bus Line ; 111 

VI. MISCELLANEOUS INQUIRIES AT MEXICO CITY _ 

CONCEPNING OSWALD “* 112 

c
o
n
n
i
e
 

kin
a 

(A) Telephone Numbers in OSWALD's 
Address Book , 112 

co
 

ce
em
g 

we
 

ge
 

Se
gr
e 

al
eh
to
nn
ne
 

. 
. 

a
 

- 
~
 

  
  

5 (B) Possibility OSWALD Sent or Received Money 114 

Bs (C) Inquiries at Hotel Cuba | 114 

& (D) Jai Alai in Mexico City 116 

4 (E) OSWALD's Luggage 118 

ij, age 
41 » ~” ~ 7s om 

i ~D- 

i : : SEQGRET ae 

[ 
poo 
a ype ee ee 

is a . 

we
s of



e
m
 

| 

$5." 
. SEMRET . 

R Page 
¥. . 

te (F) Arrest, Interrogation and Physical oe 

t: - Condition of SILVIA DURAN 220 - 

BS . (G) ELIZABETH CATLETT MORA's Concern S 
s About OSWALD's Activities 122 

s (H) Information Concerning CHARLES SMALL, 
t _ Bracelet, Post Cards, Race Track Pamphlet 124 

eo: 
i . vil. ALLEGATION BY PEDRO GUTIERREZ VALENCIA - .129 

y (A) Basis for Inquiry 129 

i: (B) Interviews of GUTIERREZ VALENCIA - 129 

(C) Character and Reputation of GUTIERREZ 134 

' (D) Information Concerning ARTURO GAONA ELIAS 134 

Se
re

 
T
e
e
 

  

(E) Inquiry Concerning ERNESTO MITRANI 136 

(F) Further Interviews of GUTIERREZ 138 

; (G) Inquiries Concerning Renault 141 

Ee (H) Information From CLAUDIO OLIVEROS 142 

. (I) Inquiries Concerning DURAN Family 144 

£ ; . VIII. ALLEGATION BY YLARIO ROJAS VILLANUEVA -- 146 

£ . (A) Basis for Inquiry 146 

b . (B) Initial Interviews of YLARIO ROJAS 147 

£ (C) Reinterviews of ROJAS 149. 

b (D) Discrepancies in ROJAS' Story 151 

: _ (E) ROJAS Involved in JACOB 5S, FLOYD Matter 153 

; (F) ROJAS' Admission of Fabrication 155 

i . oe ee tease 

{ q . SEQGRET es 

i | 
poo 
% : EES   

™!
 4 4 ’



i \ 
  

Pa
 

+ 
er
an
 

Pee
t 

gee
 g

h 
a
e
 

, 
4 

Ne
 

w
e
e
n
:
 
Ce

re
s:

 
ew
e?
 

wi
 

_— 

¢ 
a 

o
e
 

me
e 

/ 
ma

e,
 
+ 

so 
at
e,
 

o
 

4 
f
n
 

e
o
.
 

ee
 

m
e
e
 

C
T
 

v
p
a
s
t
i
e
,
 

a
e
 

ee
 

p
o
m
 

t
e
 

e
n
t
r
e
 
a
e
 
e
e
”
 

La
g 
me
e 
p
a
t
a
 

ta
 

vi
e 

V
N
 

e
v
e
 

re 
wa
s,
 

CO 
C
O
S
 

U
N
E
 
F
U
 

re
te

 
r
e
n
 
s
r
e
e
 

so
re
 
w
e
r
 

n
g
 
w
e
r
e
 

me
e 

BECRET 

ALLEGATION BY GILBERTO NOLASCO ALVARADO UGARTE 

MISCELLANEOUS INQUIRIES AND ALLEGATIONS 
RELATING TO OSWALD 

(A) 

(B) 

(C) 

(D) 

(E) 

(F) 

(G) 

(8) 

(T) 

(J) 

(x) 

Allegation by SALVADOR DIAZ VERSON 
Concerning OSWALD and SILVIA DURAN 

Information Furnished by ROBERT KAFFKE 

Allegation by ROBERT EDMOND GALLANT, 
Santa Clara Prison Farm, Santa Clara, 
California, that OSWALD was in the 
Cuban Embassy in Mexico, D. F., on 
July 12, 1963 

Allegation by HECTOR FRANCISCO SERRANO 

Allegation by LUIS FERNANDEZ GONZALEZ 

Allegation by ROBERT HIMES 

Allegation by ANDREW CHAMPION that a 
Friend of FRANCIS H. FIEDLER of New 
Orleans, Louisiana, was OSWALD 

‘Allegation by ALBERTO GODOY that Film 
in his Possession Might Depict LEE 
HARVEY OSWALD and JACK RUBY Together 

Letter to Attorney General ROBERT F. 
KENNEDY from ERNESTO FLORES LUNA 

Ynformation from JOSE GARCIA LUCHICHI 
that American Woman in Monterrey, Mexico, 
Telephoned Dallas Before and After 
Assassination of President KENNEDY 

Allegation that STEVE KENNAN Might 
Have Met OSWALD in Mexico 

- Fo 

SE ET 

  

ei
n 

' 
" 

‘ 

: 
‘ 

ed
ra
n 

ale
 p

ar
te
 

ty
ih
: t

oh
 «

 P
o
e
e
c
a
h
n
y
r
e
y
a
 We
 

PP 
W
n
t
 

esy
' 

. 
RA
TT
 
E
e
 

ae
 

rr
p 

M
i
t
r
e
 

tee
 

~ 
‘ 

. 
- 

' 
. 

. 

h
g
 

160 

162 

164 

166 

167 

170 

171 

"173 

174 

178 

179



, Mo
 
t
a
g
 

5 
S
e
d
a
 ie
l 
c
o
a
l
 

: 
. 

V,
 

w
e
 

r
o
e
 

ne
ta
 

TRE
 
Me
rt
en
 m

n 
ate

: 
HT
 

s
a
m
 

te
e 

le
 

om
e 

: 
wy

 

b
g
t
 
v
e
r
e
e
 

m
r
e
 

e
h
 

ba
s 

o
e
 

+1 
a
m
t
 

oes 

. 
. 

we
 

.
,
 

c
e
t
e
r
a
 

o
t
 
e
a
n
 
mi
ne
rs
” 

@ 
aa

er
mn

cr
e 

. 
* 

: 
o
%
 

“™
: 

A f
o
e
s
 
in
 

pi
na
ta
 i
na
te
 t
h
 

W
e
e
t
i
a
.
 

t
h
e
t
 

L
a
m
e
s
 

m
e
a
 
e
e
 

, ' \ ‘ Ce ee nae   

\? J) 

SECRET 

Page 

(L) Information from ARTURO ALCOCER RUIZ 180 

(M) Information that ERNESTO RODRIGUEZ, 
New Orleans, Louisiana, Possessed Taped 
Recordings of OSWALD'’s Spanish 181 

dK omall 
ee 

~ Ge .



= 

ae
 

ke
Ps

 
m
 

ne
se
eE
 

Ga
 O
T
R
 7

 
hy

, 
et 

, 
a
y
e
 

et
 

e
e
e
 

. 

7 
£ : 

t: 

  

) vi
 ET 

o
s
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The information recorded herein was furnished by . 

a confidential source abroad, who on November 22, 1963, was 
advised of the assassination at Dallas, Texas, of President 
JOHN F, XEKNEDY of the United states of America and was 
instructed to institute investigation for the purpose of 
explaining all aspects of LEE HARVEY OSWALD's connections 
and contacts in Mexico, possibly with any enemies of the 
United States of America, and to evaluate the possibility 
of any foreign direction in the assassination of President 
SEWNEDY. 

II. TRAVEL TO MEXICO BY LEE HARVEY OSWALD 
(September 26-27, 1963) 

(A) OSWALD's Application for United States Passport, ‘ 
June 24, 1963 . 

United States State Department records disclose 
that on June 24, 1963, OSWALD applied for a United States 
passport at New Orleans, Louisiana, stating that he intended 
to depart from New Orleans during the period from October to 
December, 1963, for proposed travel as a tourist of three 
months to a year's duration to England, France, Germany, 
Holland, Russia, Finland, Italy and Portugal. He was issued 
United States Passport No. DO 92526 at New Orleans on 
June 25, 1963. 

This passport was valid for three years for travel 
to all countries except Albania, Cuba and those portions of 
China, Korea and Vietnam under communist control. 

This passport was found among OSWALD's effects 
following his arrest at Dallas, Texas, on November 22, 1963. 

(B) OSWALD's Mexican Tourist Visa _ 

-Oh November 23, 1963, T-1, a confidential source 
abroad, advised that the official records of the Mexican . 

Government reflected that one LEE, HARVEY OSWALD had entered 
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Hexico on September 26, 1963, at Nuevo Laredo, Tamaulipas, ~~ 

and had departed Mexico at the same place on October 3, i 

1963, . 
‘= x 

On November 24, 1963, source made available a copy 

of the Mexican form FM-8 (tourist card) used for the entry 

of this person into Mexico. The FM-8 is reproduced on the 

following page. 

The FM-8 bears No, 24085 and was issued on 

September 17, 1963, by the Mexican Consulate General in New 

Orleans, Louisiana. As noted above, it was issued in the 

- mame of LEE, HARVEY OSWALD. It would appear that the conma ~ 

was placed on the card in error inasmuch as the signature 

appearing on the original and duplicate portions of the 

FN-8 is LEE H. OSWALD. OSWALD listed his profession as 

“photographer,” stated that he was 23 years of age and 

married, and presented a birth certificate as proof of his 

citizenship. The FM-8 was valid for a single journey to 

Mexico for a period of fifteen days. 

According to the rubber stamp impression appearing 

on both the original and the duplicate copy of the FK-8, 

OSWALD was admitted at Nuevo Laredo on September 26, 1963, 

by Mexican Immigration Service employee HELIO, TUEXI. MAYDON, 

A rubber-stamp impression on the original of the FU-8 

indicated that he departed Mexico_at Nuevo Laredo on 

October 3, 1963, his departure having been handled by 

Mexican Immigration Service employee ALBERTO ARZAMENDI -CHAPA. 

By way of general information, T-l1 has stated that 

Mexican tourist cards are issued in duplicate. The duplicate 

copy of the card is picked up at the time of entry into Mexico 

of the bearer of the card. The latter retains the original 

of the card until departure from Mexico, at which time the 

original is picked up at the port of departure. Both the 

original and the duplicate copies of the card are date-stamped 

at the port of entry and, in addition, the original is date- 

stamped at the port of departure. 
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; _ ORIGINAL N° 24085 z 

TAIID\ POR 15 DIA 
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Apellidos y nombre... LE, HARVEY OSWALD ~ — 
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Reproduced above is the original portion of the Mexican FH-8 

with which LEE HARVEY OSWALD entered Mexico on September 26, . 

1963, and departed therefrom on October 3, 1963. Although he... 

is known to have travcled by bus from Nuevo Laredo to Mexico 

City, his mode of travel is not recorded on the FM-8, which 

was retrieved and cancelled by ALBERTO ARZAMENDI CHAPA at the 

time of his departure. No space is provided on the ecard for 

recording means of travel upon departure, and no such infor- 

mation appears on the above card. The back of the FN-8 contains 

no information other than printed instructions and warnings 

  

to the traveler in Spanish, English and French. { z 
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 . On November 27, 1963, Father ANTONIO” MORENO, Sacred 

: Heart Catholic Church, 215 North 16th Street, Edinburg, Texas, 

,advised in Edinburg, Texas, that Father RICHARD LAWRENCE - 

7veHILION, who formerly resided at this address, obtained a= 

-/"Mexican tourist card on about September 17, 1963, with which 

to enter Mexico. He added that Father RICHARD LAWRENCE 

PHILION is now asSigned to the Santa Maria Magdalena Church 

. in Tequixistlan, Oaxaca, Mexico, and that his mailing address 

is Apartado Postal No. 93, Salina Cruz, Oaxaca, Mexico. 

T-2, a confidential source abroad, advised that 

7 Father PHILION stated at Salina Cruz, Oaxaca, Mexico, on 

4 December 13, 1963, that he had obtained his Mexican tourist 

i card, form FM-5 No. 4373765, at the Mexican Consulate in 

New Orleans, Louisiana, on September 17, 1963. 

f
t
o
m
 

on
e 
C
M
Y
 
p
e
e
r
 

wh
y 

ey
; 
a
 

ce
e 

re
re
 
e
w
 

8 
=¢

 
an
 

Father PHILION examined various photographs of 

t OSWALD, and he could not recall any person of OSWALD 's 

description being present at the Mexican Consulate in New 

Orleans when he obtained his Mexican tourist card. 

4 

Father PHILION advised that it was his best recole 

lection that he was in the Mexican Consulate in New Orleans 

at about 1:30 p.m. on September 17, 1963, and that he arrived 

shortly before the Mexican Consulate was scheduled to close. 

He recalled that his tourist card was the last one issued 

on the day of September 17, 1963, and that one man and a 

woman were present at the Mexican Consulate when he was 

securing his tourist card. He did not recall any individual 

resembling OSWALD while he was at the Mexican Consulate in. 

New Orleans. ° 

(C) Results of FBI Laboratory Examination . a 

of OSWALD's Tourist Card ° 

+ 

Mexican tourist card, FM-8 No. 24085, issued on a 

September 17, 1963, by the Mexican Consulate General in New - 

Orleans, Louisiana, was forwarded to the FBI Laboratory, ~- 

Washington, D. C., for examination, and on December 6, 1963, 

the FBI Laboratory concluded the following, after examination 

of the tourist card issued to OSWALD; 
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SECHET | 

"Yt was concluded that handwritten OSWALD signatures | 
on the two portions of the tourist card, FU-8 ° 
No. 24025, issued to OSWALD by the Mexican Consulate. 

General at New Orleans, Louisiana, on September 17, 

1963, were written by LEE HARVEY OSWALD. 
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"No latent fingerprint impressions of value were 
developed on OSWALD's Mexican tourist card. 

(D) Closing of United States-Mexican Border 

Immediately upon receipt of information of the 

assassination of President SENNEDY, the Mexican Government 

closed all border traffic between the United states and Mexico 

for the specific purpose of forestalling the escape of the 

assassin. 

The Mexican border was reopened following the appre- 

hension of OSWALD. . 

(E) Mexican Newspaper, “Excelsior,” November 25, 

1953, Issue re: OSWALD‘'s Trip to Mexico 

On November 25, 1963, Mexican newspaper "Excelsior" 

published at Mexico, D. F., Mexico (Federal District of Mexico 

which encompasses Mexico City), contained on page 1-A an 

article in the Spanish language, a translation of which is 

as follows: 

“HE APPARENT ASSASSIN OF KENNEDY SOLICITED 

VISAS HERE (MEXICO, D. F., MEXICO) IN ORDER 

TO GO TO MOSCOW VIA HAVANA. 

“LES HARVEY OSWALD, alleged murderer of President 
SEXNEDY and who was assassinated by JACK RUSINSTEIN, 

entered Mexico on September 26, last, with a 

tourist card which our Consul in New Orleans issued 

him on the seventeenth of the same month, with 

his birth certificate, which he presented, accredit- 

ing him as an American citizen. . 
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SECRET 

"Excelsior has confirmed that on September 26, aad 

1963, he crossed the border at Nuevo Laredo, , 

Tamaulipas, and the following day arrived at 7s 

this capital by vehicle highway. 

“According to inquiries made, on the same 
September 27, OSWALD went to the Consul General 

of Cuba in Mexico in order to obtain a transit 

visa because he was thinking of traveling to 

Moscow via Havana. 

{ 
‘The Consul, EUSEBJO”’AZCUE, indicated to him that 

4n order to issue him the visa which he was 

soliciting, he had to consult directly with his 

own government. The operation, therefore, would 

require from ten to twelve days. 

"LEE HARVEY OSWALD, because of his irritable 

temperament, had an argument with Consul AZCUE 

and departed from his office giving a hard slam 

to the door as he left. 

‘The following day, or on the 28th of September, 

OSWALD interviewed the Consul General of the 

Soviet Union, accredited in Mexico, in order to 

solicit his corresponding visa for entry into 

the USSR. 

“He supported his petition with the fact that his 

wife was a Soviet citizen; that he was a militant 

communist; and that he had lived for three years 

in Russia. . 

“OSWALD told the Consul of the Soviet Union in 

Mexico that they could easily verify his words 

by communicating telephonically with his wife, 

who could be found lodging in a hotel in New Orleans. 

“Following the normal procedure carried out in these — 

cases, the Soviet Consul indicated to him that he 

would first have to consult with his own government 

and that the lapse of time for obtaining an ansyer tp agtamenie : 

was from three to four months, 
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"The apparent murderer of President XEHNEDY 8: 
again became angry and repeated the scene which AB 
he had made the day before at the Cuban Embassy, cn 
arguing with the Soviet Consul, and departing 
highly disgusted from his office. 

  

“OSWALD returned to Texas on the third day of 
October through the border at Nuevo Laredo, 

OSYALD had no interviews with highly placed 
officials at the Soviet Embassy or at the Cuban 
Embassy accredited to our government. 

hh ' Tamaulipas. 

iE “The inquiries which have been made to the present 
bl in Mexico apparently indicate that LEE HARVEY 

(F) Checks Made on Compania de Aviacion Passenger 
Manifests for September 26-27, 1963 a
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T-3, a confidential source abroad, advised that on 
November 25, 1963, FERNANDO\FARIAS, Assistant Sales Manager 
for Compania Mexicana de Aviacion (CMA), Balderas 36, Mexico, 
D. F,, stated that he had caused a careful check to be made 
of all CMA passenger manifests for CMA flights between Nuevo 
Laredo, Tamaulipas, Mexico, and Mexico, D. F., and for all 
CMA flights between Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, Mexico, and 
Mexico, D. F., for September 26 and 27, 1963. 
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; _ FERNANDO FARIAS stated that there were no passengers 
listed on these manifests using the name LEE HARVEY OSWALD 
or any name variation thereof. 
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(G) Check at OSWALD's Port of Entry into Mexico 
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On November 25, 1963, HELIO TUEXI MAYDON, Mexican 
Immigration Service employee, advised at Nuevo Laredo, Mexico, ~— - 
that OSWALD entered Mexico at Nuevo Laredo on September 26, 
1963, using a fifteen-day tourist card issued September 17, 
1963, by the Mexican Consulate General at New Orleans, 
Louisiana. 
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SECRET _ 

ae: 

. x . a: 

TUEXI MAYDON had no independent recollection of °:3.. 

OSWALD but considered that OSWALD may have been in the at 

i company of a young American couple, os 

t E An exhaustive search was made of Mexican Immigration 

records at Nuevo Laredo, which disclosed that there was only 

one young American couple whose entry into Mexico may have 

coincided with that of OSWALD. This couple was named BILL 

and BLAINE ALLEN of Miami, Florida, —_— 
— ee ee 
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On November 27, 1963, TUEXI MAYDON advised that no 

-dnformation had been developed regarding the exact time or 

specific mode of travel of OSWALD at the time he entered 

Mexico, He stated that OSWALD's entry into Mexico on 

September 26, 1963, took place between 6:00 a,m. and 2:00 p.su. 

as he had handled OSWALD's entry and he worked this shift at 

the border port of entry at Nuevo Laredo, He added that ° 

OSWALD's departure from Mexico was at Nuevo Laredo, Mexico, 

on October 3, 1963, between 12:01 a.m. and 8:00 a,m. and 

that this shift was supervised by ALBERTO ARZAMENDI CHAPA, © 

Mexican Immigration Service employee, 
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On November 27, 1963, MARIO DEL“VALLE-PLATA, Mexican 

Immigration Service employee, Nuevo Laredo, Mexico, advised 

that no Mexican Immigration Service employee who was on duty 

at Nuevo Laredo when OSWALD entered or departed from Mexico 

had any independent recollection of OSWALD by photograph or 

otherwise with regard to his entry or departure from Mexico, 

(H) Check of Flecha Roja (Red Arrow) Baggage List 
for Passengers for September 26, 1963, Trip 

from Nuevo Laredo to Mexico, D, F, 
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The baggage list for passengers for September 26 

1963, of the Mexican bus line Flecha Roja (Red Arrow) for the 

bus which left Nuevo Laredo, Tamaulipas, Mexico, at 2:00 pt, 

on this same date, reflects that there was a total of 18 

pieces of baggage. The baggage list reflects the following? 
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2. 

3. 

4. 

Se 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10, 

co 11. 

12. 

13. 

14, 

15. 

16, 

17, 

18, 

: s ,uoroy 
. 17 

C: . ) 

PABLO, VASQUEZ 

Second piece of luggage attributed to . 
PABLO VASQUEZ = 

ALFRE , \BRISENO 

ROIG/SORQUIS . 

T GONZALEZ 

ANDRES /HORALES 

Second piece of luggage attributed to 
ANDRES MORALES 

Gpe. {MARTINEZ (possibly GUADALUPE or Capt. MARTINEZ) 

(FNU)}-ROWEN 

HARRY 3, firrcHeL, Poot, i 

Second piece of luggage attributed to 
HARRY J. MITCHELL 

Third piece of luggage attributed to 
HARRY J. MITCHELL 

LEE H. OSWALJ 

(FNU)XBOWEN (believed identical with JOHN B. BOWEN) 

Second piece of luggage attributed to BOWEN 

JOHN, Me FARLAND 4s 

Second piece of luggage attributed to JOHN McFARLAND 

The driver of this bus was listed as ROBERTO: MORALES , 

The baggage list has the number "18" at the botton, 
which, according to the Mexico City terminal manager of Flecha 
Roja, signifies that 18 pieces of luggage had been checked and 
ticketed on that bus. 
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T~4, a confidential source who has furnished ae es 

“yeliable information in the past, advised on December 16,3, 

1963, that he had talked to ROBERTQSORALES, driver of the. 
Flecha Roja bus No. 516 on September 26, 1963, and = T 

MORALES stated he could not recall the passengers on the 

trip of September 26, 1963, because 60 much time had elapsed; 

and since he makes two round trips between Nuevo Laredo and 

Mexico, D. F., each week, he could not recall any information 

regarding OSWALD or any other passengers who were on the bus. 

JOHN 3,“ BOWEN was identified from Mexican Immigration 

records as 359 years of age, born Houston, Texas, a United 

States citizen, residence Houston, Texas. Mexican tourist 

card was issued to him at Nuevo Laredo, Mexico, on September 26, 

1963, upon presentation of his birth certificate. 

‘i + HARRY J2MITCHELL was identified as 41 years of 
age, a United sSictes citizen, a lawyer, residence Palmyra, 

_ Missouri. Mexican tourist card was issued to him at Nuevo 

Laredo on september 26, 1963. 4 .,.. 

ANNIE MARIE HITCHELL was identified as apparently 

being the vife of “.2Y J. NITCHSLL, above, 22 years of age, 

a United States citizen, residence same as husband, above. 

. : § , 

Dr. JOHN BRYANZMcFARLAND and his wife, Mrs. ANNA_ 

MERYLE’ REID/UcFARLND, 10 Fulwood Park, Liverpool, England, 
were intervieved in England and advised they were on the 

Flecha Roja bus from Nuevo Laredo, Tamaulipas, Mexico, to 

Mexico, D. F., September 26-27, 1963. They stated that 

they observed the following during this trip: 

OSWALD was on this bus trip traveling alone and 

he sat next to an 80-year-old man, described as ~~ ~~ 

a United States citizen, who appeared to be 

60 years of age and who resides in Cuernavaca, 

State of Morelos, Mexico, and in the State of 

Tennessee in the United States. This individual 

was identified further as a school teacher who 

taught in India and Arabia and currently was 

writing a book on the Lisbon, Portugal, earthquake 

of 1775. 
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During this trip, Osv spoke to two Australian 

girls in their mid-twenties who ‘boarded this bus... 

_din Monterrey, State of Nuevo Leon, Mexico, and 

these two girls got off at Mexico, D. F., Mexico. -- 

. 
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OSWALD left the bus alone at Mexico, D. F. 

With regard to the first individual described by 

the HcFARLANDs, JOHN HOWARDGOWEN, listed above with tourist 
card FH-5 No. 4329926, was considered possibly to be the 

elderly United States citizen who sat next to OSWALD, and 

he could be contacted in care of Calle Carranza No. 4-A, dan 

Martin de Texmelucan, State of Puebla, Mexico. Extensive 

investigation to locate JOHN HOWARD BOWEN was made, and the 

results are set forth hereinafter. 
. : : - 

with regard to the two “AuStralian girls in their 

mid-twenties, these girls were considered identical with 

PATRICIA CLARE ROSHLEIGHXWINSTON, 22 years of age, Australian 

citizen, native of Fiji Islands, bearer of Mexican tourist 

card FM-5 No. 4225835, issued August 24, 1963, by the Mexican 

Consulate in New York, New. York, home address listed as 

222 West 23rd Street, New York, New York, and PAMELA LILLIAN 

MUMFORD, 21 years of age, English citizen, born Fiji Islands, 

bearer of Mexican tourist card FN-5 No, 4225836, issued the 

‘game date and place as that of WINSTON, According to Mexican 

.‘ Immigration records, WINSTON and MUMFORD entered Mexico at 

Nuevo Laredo on September 25, 1963, one day before OSWALD 

entered Mexico. v 
— - 7 

PATRICIA WINSTON and PAMELA” MUMFORD advised the 

following on December 17, 1963, when interviewed in the 

United States: . 

WINSTON and MUMFORD boarded a bus at Monterrey, 

State of Nuevo Leon, Mexico, on September 26, 

1963, at 7:30 p.m., en route to Mexico, D. F. 

Both identified OSWALD as a passenger on this 

bus and both observed him sitting next to an 

Englishman who had lived in Mexico for thirty 

years. This latter individual was described 

as being in his late sixties, heavy build, gray 

hair - balding, with a distinctive English 

accent, and both believed him to be retired a. 

from business. 
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WINSTON and MUMFORD recalled that OSWALD intro- Lg. 

duced himself and exhibited to them his United _ 

States passport. OSWALD advised WINSTON and 22 

MUMFORD that he had lived in Russia for two years 7 

and that he had had a hard time getting out of 

Russia. OSWALD stated that he had been in Japan. 

OSWALD made no comment concerning communism or 

Cuba. Re did not state why he was traveling to 

Mexico, where he was going, and he did not advise 

concerning his occupation or future plans. 

OSWALD stated that he was from Fort Worth or 

Dallas, Texas. He was observed to be traveling 

alone. de had only one piece of luggage and a 

smallzipper bag. He wore a gold wedding ring. 

OSWALD recommended that WINSTON and MUMFORD stay 

at the Hotel Cub2, Mexico, D, F., where he claimed 

that he had stayed several times before. He 

pointed out that this hotel was inexpensive but 

that he was not staying at the Hotel Cuba on 

this trip. 

WINSTON and MUMFORD recalled an English couple 

aboard the bus. This couple is considered 

identical with Dr. JOHN BRYAN McFARLAND and 

his wife, Mrs. ANNA MERYLE REID McFARLAND, 

mentioned above. 

, “ JOHN HOWARD BOWEN, who has been known as Reverend 

ALBERT/OSBORNE and has resided at Calle Emilio Carranza 

No, 4-A, San Martin de Texmelucan, State of Puebla, Mexico, 

and 4114 Drummond Street, Montreal, Canada,. was determined ~ 

to be the holder of Canadian Passport No. 5-605377. T-2 

adyised on January 7, 1964, that BOWEN, while posing as 

Reverend ALBERT OSBORNE, stated in Mexico that he was 

acquainted with Reverend JOHN HOWARD BOWEN and furnished 

mis eon 4{nformation concerning the alleged whereabouts 

of BOWEN. 
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On January 28, 1964, T-5, a confidential source - 

who has furnished reliable information in the past, advised , 

the records at the Mexican Ninistry of Gobernacion (Ministry of 

the Interior) reflect that ALBERT OSBORNE was ordered deported 
from Mexico on April 5, 1958, through Laredo, Texas. OSBORNE 

had been charged with selling an automobile in the Oaxaca, 

HNexico, area without paying the import duties. These records 

reflect also that, in 1958, OSBORNE was known as JOHN HOWARD 

BOWEN and was located ih Mexico and determined to be without 

proper Nexican immigration papers. 

On January 30, 1964, T-6, a confidential source abroad, 

advised that inasmuch as ALBERT OSBORNE had been illegally in 

lexico, he would be detained for deportation if located in Mexico. 

BOWEN was interviewed at Florence, Alabama, on 

February 8, 1964, and advised that he recalled making a bus 

trip from Nuevo Laredo, Mexico, to Mexico, D. F., on September 

26-27, 1963, and sitting next to a young man whom he described 

as 29 years of age, 5 feet 8 inches tall, 150 pounds in weight, 

with thin, blond hair and a dark complexion, who appeared to be 

of Mexican or Puerto Rican descent. This individual went to 

sleep soon after boarding the bus, and, after a lunch stop at 

Sabinas Hidalgo, Uexico, this person moved to the back of the 

bus where he reclined on a seat and went to sleep. BOWEN claimed” 

that he did not talk to the above person and was unable to 

identify press photographs of OSWALD. 

BOWEN stated that he is acquainted with an ALBERT 

OSBORNE, described as a Baptist preacher or missionary fron 

Canada, and while in Oaxaca, Mexico, in 1958, BOWEN misplaced 

bis identification papers and during a census taken at Oaxaca 

he borrowed OSBORNE's identification papers. BOWEN claimed 

that he had never before or afterward used the name of OSBORNE. 

Interviewed further at Nashville, Tennessee, on March 

3, 1964, OSBORNE admitted that he had used dual identities as 

OSBORNE and JOHN H. BOWEN for many years in Mexico and the 

United States. He continued to deny any knowledge of OSWALD, 

however.



i 
g
e
 
b
a
d
e
 
a
n
d
y
,
 

at
 

* w
i
e
w
s
 

aw
e 

~ 
U
w
e
 

TF
 

fi
om

 
Sat

es 
M
O
E
N
 7 

. 

So
 

W
R
 
T
r
 

te 
fo
ra
 

w
e
e
 

we
t 
r
e
y
 
c
i
s
e
 

pe
 
eg
: 

“
c
o
m
o
 

ea
e 

-n
lb

e 
to
re
 
t
a
s
t
i
n
g
 

pt
e 

A 
we
ar
er
 
a
i
m
e
e
 

O
b
 

A
g
 

ba
 
t
e
a
’
 

- 

io
 

+ 
e
a
s
e
 

a
 

s
a
g
e
n
 

re
 

“¢
 

P
o
t
t
e
d
 
P
e
e
 

ve
 

om 

c
o
m
 
a
t
i
e
 

w
e
 

e
n
e
 

SE ET 

(1) List Obtained of Entry of All Non-Mexican 
~ Citizens on September 26, 1963, at Nuevo 
- Laredo, Tamaulipas, Mexico in

se
r,
 

j 

T-1, who is thoroughly familiar with the workings 

of the Mexican Ministry of Gobernacion (Interior), furnished 

the following information concerning the procedures utilized 

by the Mexican Immigration Service in connection with the 

entry and departure of non-Mexican citizens into and out of 

Mexico. It is to be noted that the Mexican Immigration Service 

is a part of the Mexican Ministry of Gobernacion. 

Tourists usually enter Mexico on a Mexican tourist 

card. There are two types of such cards, one being called 

the FN-8, which is valid for a stay in the country of only 

15 days, and one designated as FM-5, which has validity for @ 

180 days' stay in Mexico. Both types are issued at Mexican 
Consulates throughout the world and can also be obtained 

from the Mexican Immigration Service at border ports of entry. 

FM-8 tourist cards also are available at airlines ticket 

offices and tourist agencies. 

At the time of entry into Mexico, the traveler 

surrenders the duplicate portion of the tourist card, and 

both the duplicate and the original, which remains in the 

possession of the traveler, are stamped with a rubber stamp 

which shows the name of the Mexican representative handling 

the entry, the date of the entry and the locality of the 

port of entry. shen the traveler leaves Mexico, he surrenders 

the original portion of the tourist card and it is stamped 

with a rubber stamp which carries the name of the Mexican 

representative, the date of the departure and the locality 

of the port of departure. 

Each Mexican port of entry is required on a continuing 

basis to prepare a form called form Fé-11, The Fk-11 for both 

entries and departures is prepared each "“quincena™ (fifteen- 

day period). Entries and departures are set up on the Fi-11 

in chronological order and thereafter, within each date, the 

names of the tourists are listed in alphabetical order. 

Basic information appearing on the FM-ll is taken from the 

tourist card presented by the traveler, At the time the FM-11 

is prepared, a number is placed on the tourist card, these ~. - 
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numbers being in sequence according to the alphabetical © — 

order of the names within each date and thereafter by date, 

By way of example, the first traveler in alphabetical order 

entering at a port of entry on the first day of the month 

or a "quincena" is assigned number 1. Thereafter, all 

travelers entering that port on that date are assigned 

numbers in sequence, according to alphabetical order. This 

sequence continues on the second day of the month and 

throughout the remaining 15 days of the "*quincena." 
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T-1 made available for examination the forms FM-5 

and FU-8 for all non-Mexican citizens entering Mexico at 

Nuevo Laredo as tourists on September 26, 1963, as well as 

the copies of forms FM-11 containing the recapitulation of 

the entries to Mexico at Nuevo Laredo on this date. 
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From the tourist cards (FM-5 and FM-8) and the 

copies of the forms FM-11, the following summary of infor- 

mation concerning each person who entered Mexico at Nuevo 

Laredo on September 26, 1963, has been obtained. The 

summaries have been divided into those persons traveling on 

form FH-5 and those traveling on form FH-8, since the forms 

FM-11 are so set up. The number appearing before each name 

4s the number which appears on form FM-ll. The following is a 

brief resume regarding each person who entered Mexico on 

September 26, 1963. Information was available regarding 

the mode of transportation on entry, a brief description of 

the person, the residence listed, proof of citizenship was 

shown and the Mexican Immigration Service employee who 

’ handled the entry, and this information was set out in detail 

in memorandum dated March 16, 1964, 
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368. MARGARITA SALANIS, FM~5 No. 4329957, issued 

by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 

Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
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NORBERTA-AVILA, FU-5 No. 4229958, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. A 

ue
 

oo 

¥ 
WINFRED BARNES, FH-5 No, 4516531, issued 
by Pan American Airways, Miami, Florida, 
September 5, 1963. en 

JOH H. BOWEN, FM-5 No, 4329926, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

7 
SARA MARQUELA-YANIS DE~CHAMPSAUR, FM-5 
No. 4212610, issued by Mexican Embassy, 
Panama, Republic of Panama, August 14, 1963. 

MARJORIE FERN”CHARLES, FM-5 No. 4234731, 
issued by Néexican Consulate, Kansas City, 
Missouri, September 19, 1953. 

\ 
ANDREW WEBSTER\CHRISTOPHER, FH-5 No. 4052670, 

‘issued by Mexicah Consulate, Laredo, Texas, 
September 25, 1963, 

SAMUEL’ ESTRADA, FM-5 No, 432955, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Service, Nuevo 

Laredo, September 26, 1933. 

BENNIE H)FABER, FH-5 No. 4329980, issued 
by Mexican\immigration Service, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

OSCAR ENRIQUB’GALLARDO, FM-5 No, 4363772, 
issued by Mexican Consulate General, New 

Orleans, Louisiana, September 9 (possibly 
19), 1963.°— SS” 

ELSIE-GIBBS, FU-5 No. 4329708, issued by 
Mexican Immigration Service, Nuevo Laredo, 
September 26, 1963. 
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LUISA MAGUER, FM-5 No. 4153246, issued 
by Méxican Consulate General, San 
Antonio, Texas, September 24, 1963. 

A, 

Miss J. Mc“HENDRICKSE, FM-5 No. 4359974, 
issued by Mexican Consulate, Toronto, 
Canada, August 19, 1963. 

MARIA CONSUELOAUATA‘GONZALEZ, FM-5 
No. 4329707, issued by Mexican 
Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, 
September 26, 1963. ; 

JOHN BRYAN McFARLAND, FM-5 No, 4353754, 
issued by Mexican Consulate General, 
New Orleans, Louisiana, September 14, 1963. 

ANNA MERYL REID McFARLAND, FM-5 No. 4363755, 
issued by Mexican Consulate General, New 
Orleans, Louisiana, September 14, 1963. 

MICHAEL Av“NOVOA, FU-5 No. 4351992, issued 
by Honorary Mexican Consulate, Newark, 
New Jersey, September 15, 1963. 

TOMAS JERIEL’ OWENS, FU-5 No. 4329525, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

JUANITA A.‘ PEREZ, FU-5S No. 4496449, issued _ 
by Mexican Consulate, Dallas, Texas, 
September 19, 1963. 

ANIBAL/ PLEITEZ, FU-5 No, 4363773, issued 
by Mexican Consulate General, New Orleans, 
Louisiana, September 9 (possibly 19), 1963. ° 

7 

JOSEHUMBERTO’PLEITEZ, FM-5 No. 4363774, 
issued by Mexican Consulate General, New 
Orleans, Louisiana, September 19, 1963. 
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SECRET 

ENILSAINZ, FM-5 No, 4455632, issued by. 
Hiexican Tourism Department, New York, 
New York, September 20, 1963. is

k 
o
y
r
i
d
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m
a
n
 

. 

TERESA YCACCIATORETSAINZ, FN-5 No. 4455631, 
issued by\Mexican Tourism Department, 
New York, New York, September 20, 1953, 

  

MATTHEW\SCHILLER, FH-5 No. 4329624, issued. 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, 

September 26, 1963. 

RICHARD RALPR\SCHWARZE, FM-5 No. 4301251, 
issued by Mexican Consulate, Detroit, 
Michigan, September 23, 1963. 

CHESTER STANLEY STEMP, FM-5 No. 4449875, 

issued by Mexican Tourism Department, 
Houston, Texas, September 25, 1963. 

ra 

TEODORO OSCAR’ TREVINO, FM-5 No. 4329956, 

issued by Hexican Immigration Office, 

Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

VIOLA MARTA’ YANIS DE:VIGGIANO, FM-5 
No. 4212612, issued’by Consular Section 

of Mexican Embassy, Panama, Republic of 
Panama, August 14, 1953. 

ANTONY S\QATNE, FH-5 No, 4484222, issued 

by Mexican Consulate, Phoenix, Arizona, 

September 23, 1963. 

FLOR DE MARIASSUCRE DE\YANIS, FM-5 
No. 4212611, issued by Consular Section 

of Mexican Embassy, Panama, Republic of 

Panama, August 14, 1963.~ 

TOBIAS ROZENZEWZAREMBER, FM-5 No. 4052668, 
issued by Mexican: Consulate, Laredo, Texas 
September 25, 1963. 
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FELIX |ALONZO, FM-8 No. 626144, issued - 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, september 26, 1963, 

APOLONIONALVARES,, FM-8 No. 626133, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

A
 

CAMILASALVARES, FM-8 No. 626134, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, september 26, 1963. 

JUANNALVARES, FM-8 No. 626135, issued by 
Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, 
September 26, 1963. 

i 
BERTHA/AVILA, FH-8 No. 626242, issued by 
.Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, 
weptember 26, 1963. AVILA's tourist card 
was cancelled at her request and was not 
utilized. 

BERTHA AVILA, FN-8 No. 626242, It is noted 
that this listing carries identical infor- 
mation as set forth under No, 766. It 
appears that the two listings of this 
individual on the FM-ll were done in error 
Since she apparently did not enter Mexico, -- 

TED C\BLAND, FM-8 No. 624673, issued by 
Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, 
September 26, 1963. 

STEPHEN ALAR\BRILL, FU-8 No, 47905, issued 
by Miami Office of. Mexican Tourism Department, 
August 13, 1963. 

ELAINE ESTERMANSERILL, Fu-8 No, 47906, 
issued by the Miami Office of the Mexican 
Tourism Department, August 13, 1963. 

HARVEY M. MPBELL, FM-8 No. 626139, issued, © ~-:: 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 2 ot 
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FRANK CANTERBURY, FM-8 No. 624669, issued 
by Nexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

FERNANDOVCARRILLO, FN-8 No. 626230, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

ET 

7
 

'R. ALECORYCAVAZOS (possibly ALzcon’CavAzos R.), 
FM-~8 No. 626140, issued by Mexican Immigration 
Office, Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

N. ARKALDONGAVAZOS. (po (possibly ARNALDO 
FU-3 No. 626141, issued by 

Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, 
—X-CAVAZOS_N. 

September 26, 1963. 

TIN“RRADOXCHAPA, FM-8 No. 626365, issued 
by MeRican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

CHARLES<DENWEY, F¥-8 No. 626231, issued 
by Mexican Tmmigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

ROBERT V.yDUBLIN, JR., FM-8 No. 133158, 
issued by Mexican Consulate, Laredo, 
Texas), September 26, 1963. 

‘JOSE-BENITO/ESCOBAR, FU-2 No, 133155, 
issued by Mexican Consulate, Laredo, 
Texas, September 26, 1963, 

OLIMPIA BENITEZ DE»ESCOBAR, FM-8 
No. 133154, issued by Mexican Consulate, 
Laredo, Texas, September 26, 1963, 

REINA’ESCOBAR, FU-8 No. 133153, issued 
_ by Mexican Consulate, Laredo, Texas, 
September 26, 1963. 
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782, JENNIFER JULIA FELLOVES,, FM-8 No. 624676, © =5 

issued by Mexican Immigration Office, “WS 

Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1953, ag 
a J, 7 

783, SUSANA SELINA FOSTER, FU-8 No, 624677, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 

Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
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784, LUCIANO G.YGARCIA, FN-8 No. 626229, issued 
by Mexic4n Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo 
September 26, 1963. : 
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785, AGAPITO%GONZALEZ, FU-8 No, 626234, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 

Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
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786, ELVIRA/GONZALEZ, FM-8 No, 626235, issued 
i by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 

t Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
a 

787, ROBERTOGONZALEZ, FU-8 No, 626238, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo. 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
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788, DOLORES “GUARDIOLA, FM-8 No, 626241, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuev 

Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
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789, H. ARTURO“GUERRA, FN-8 No, 624668, issued 

by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 

Laredo, September 26, 1963..° . 

790. , JODEYE (last three letters questionable) 

* BRANDS“ HANDS, FM-8 No, 626138, issued by 
"Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, - 

September 26, 1963, Instant individual 

appeared to sign her name as Mrs. JODENE_ 
_- HANDS « 
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791, ERNESTINE~WHITE*HANDS, FMU-8 No. 626137, 

issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
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792. NELLIE L. HARDIN, FM-8 No. 626364, issued 
by Nexican Immigration Office, Nuevo ae 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. } 

793. BRIANSAQUES, FU-8 No. 330187, issued by & 
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Mexican Consulate, San Diego, California, 
September 18, 1963. 

994. FRANK>JIMENEZ, FM-8 No. 626233, issued by 
Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, 

September 26, 1963. 
\ ; 

795. ABRAHAM/KAPLAN, FM-8 No. 626226, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. ef
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, 796. RENATE+ KRAMER, FM-8 No. 447251, bearing 

o the Stamp of Mexican Consulate General, 

é San Francisco, California, but no date 

e indicated. This form bears a typed date 

f of September 26, 1963, apparently inserted 

* upon bearer's arrival Nuevo Laredo. 
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797. DIETRICHTKRAMER, FM-8 No. 447250, bearing 
stamp of Mexican Consulate General, San 
Francisco, California, but no date indicated. 
This form bears a typed date of September 26, 

1963, apparently inserted upon bearer'‘s 
arrival Nuevo Laredo. 

ty : , 

: 798. EDITH y eur, Fu-8 No. 510259, issued at -- 

pS San Antonio, Texas (issuing office not 

eo identified), September 26, 1963. 

799. FERNANDOSLOZANO}GARCIA, FM-8 No. 626132, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

800, WILLIAM HENRYTHASON, FU-8 No. 626232, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo Laredo, 

September 26, 1963.   
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812. 

813. 

814. 

615. 

Gi O 

FLORENCE ‘S,,ROCLEVITCH, FM-8 No. 623795, . 3° 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 4 

Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. : 
Vo wi 

ANTHONY PAUL” ROCLEVITCH, FM-8 No. 623794, * 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 

Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

A \-¢ °* 

RAFAELRUBEN} RODRIGUEZ, FM-8 No. 625625, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 

Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
om 

ROBERTO GONZALO-RODRIGUEZ“ESPINOSA 
- (carried on FM-11 as ROBERTO GONZALO 

- ESPINOZA” RODRIGUEZ), Ful-8 No. 133156, 

s16. 

817. 

818. 

819. 

820. 

821. 

'gssued by Mexican Consulate, Laredo, 
Texas, September 26, 1963. 

JORGE ANTONIO ‘RODRIG ESPINOSA, FM-8 

No. 133157, issued by Mexican Consulate, 

Laredo, Texas, September 26, 1963. 

  

fe _- 

JOSEFAYRODRIGUEZYINMAN, Fi-8 No. 626131, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 

Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

urno-Kowero“CRvz, Fiu-8 No. 626143, issued 

by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 

Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

RICARDO“SANDOVAL, FH-8 No. 626363, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 

Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

GEORGES ALBERT\SPINNER, FU-8 No, 626362, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 

. Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

RICHARD*STRETTON, FH-8 No. 626239, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 

Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
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622. 

823. 

824. 

825. 

826. 

627. 

828. 

829. 

830. 

631. 

{ 

NANCY. STREETT (tourist card signed as 
NANCY C. STRETTON), FM-8 No. 626240, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

M. JOHN‘SZUCHY, JR., FM-8 No. 625632, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963, 
(This individual appeared to sign his 
name as JOHN MY SZUCHY, JR., On instant 
tourist, card.) 

THOMAS J.\ROGER, FM-8 No. 626142, issued 
by Mexican ‘Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

uAURICIAWALLE D (TORRES, FM-8 No. 510398, 
issued by Mexican ‘Tourism Department, 
San Antonio, Texas, September 25, 1963, 

VICENTE V.!TORRES, FM-8 No. 510399, issued 
by Mexican ‘Tourism Department, San Antonio, 
Texas, September 25, 1963. 

if a 
JUSTINO -TREVINO, FH-8 No, 626227, issued 
by Mexf{can Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

ABELINA P, DE(TREVINO, FM-S No. 626228, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo haredos September 26, 1963.. 

ALFREDQ-TREVINO, FN-8 No, 626554, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

ESTELA S.{ TREVINO, FM-8 No. 626555, issued 
by Mexican Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

ESPERANZA peWanpez S., FM-8 No. 624671, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963. 
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4 Nuevo Laredo, September 26, 1963, 
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832. penrio+rocas VALDEZ, Frie8 No. 624670, 
issued by Mexican Immigration Office, Mt

 

ta
l.
 

833. JUANASYALDEZ, FU-8 No. 626136, issued 
by Nexitan Immigration Office, Nuevo 
Laredo, September 26, 1963. 

834. MARIA ELSA'\VALDEZ, FU-8 No. 624672, 
issued by Uexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo Laredo, september 26, 1963. 

/ 

/ B35, OLIVIA\WILLARREAL, FU-8 No. 626237, 
issued Mexican Immigration Office, 
Nuevo Laredo, september 25, 1963. 

(J) Persons Interviewed in Mexico who Entered 
Mexico September 26, 1963, at Nuevo Laredo 

a“ ". T-7, a confidential source abroad, advised that 

SOLOMION “BANDECX, residence 18652 Kelly Road, Detroit, Michigan, 

stated at\ilonterrey, Nuevo Leon, ifexico, on December 11, 1963, 
that he is a retired jeweler and he traveled from Honterrey 

to Nuevo Laredo on september 26, 1963, in his personally-owned 

automobile. He again entered Nexico at Nuevo Laredo on 

September 26, 1563, and returned to ionterrey. 

He had no contact with OSWALD and he could not furnish 

any information concerning hin. 

T-8, a confidential source abroad, advised that 

ANDREW WEBSTER CHRISTOPHER, residence Lerdo de Tejada 320-A, 

Guadalajara, State of Jalisco, Mexico, stated on December 16, 

1953, that he entered ilexico at Nuevo Laredo, on September 26, 

1963, in his personally-owned automobile. 

He was unable to identify photographs of OSWALD and 

stated he had not observed OSWALD in Nuevo Laredo at the time 

he entered “Jexico. 

T-2, 1. confidential source who has furnished. 

reliable infornition in the past, advised on Decenber 13, 

1963, that C.sRLOS\ALMAGUER. ECHARTEA, residence Calle Lic, Jose 
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Margn Bocanegra No. 1105, Colonia Industrial, Monterrey, -=. 

Nuevo Laredo, Mexico, had stated that he and his wife ° 

entered Nexico at Nuevo Laredo on september 26, 1963, in ot 

their personally-owned automobile and that they had not seen 

or heard anything about OSWALD until November 22, 1963. --~** 

. T.4 advised on December 18, 1963, that_GUILLER4O 

Nueva [LLAR, residence 217 West Johnson Street, San Antonio, 

Texas, and irs, MARIASQTERO/PABLOS, residence 1101 Pecan 

Street, McAllen, Texas, who had entered Mexico. by automobile 

on September 26, 1963, at Nuevo Laredo, had no pertinent 

information concerning OSWALD and they had not observed hin, 
7 

T-8 advised that HARVEY\TUITLE, residence Calle 6 
No. 208, Atemajac, State of Jalisco, Mexico, stated on 

January 4, 1954, that he entered Nexico at Nuevo Laredo by 

bus on or about September 26, 1963, which exact date he could 

not recall because he did not have in his immediate possession 

his tourist card. . 

He could not recall anyone resembling OSWALD at 

Nuevo Laredo or on the bus on which he traveled. 

T-10, a confidential source abroad, advised that 

' CHESTER STANLEY\STEUP, residence 7223 Jarnecke Avenue, 

Hammond, Indiana}. employed as a mathematics teacher, American 

‘High School, San Salvador, E1 Salvador, stated in San 

Salvador, El Salvador, on January 14, 1964, that he entered 

Mexico at Nuevo Laredo, on September 26, 1963, on the first 

“bus which crossed the border on this date at about 6:00 a.m, 

He traveled to Laredo, Texas, by Greyhound bus from San 

Antonio, Texas, and boarded a Transportes del Norte bus in 

Nuevo Laredo, Uexico.. He traveled from Nuevo Laredo to 

lonterrey, Nuevo Leon, by bus, arriving at the latter place 

at about noon on September 26, 1963. He took a train from 

Monterrey to San Luis Potosi, State of San Luis Potosi, 

Mexico, and Mexico, D. F., arriving at noon on September 28, 

1963, 

He could not identify a photograph of OSWALD and 

stated that he had not seen hin. 
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(x) Interview of ROBERTO MORALES, Driver of Flecha “"¢* 
Roja (Red Arrow) Bus No. 516 from Nuevo Laredo to __ 
Mexico City on trip for September 25 and 27, 1963... ~ 

T-11, a confidential source abroad, advised as follows: 

On March 14, 1964, ROBERTO MORALES, driver of Flecha 

Roja bus No. 516 on September 26-27, 1963, from Nuevo Laredo to 

Mexico, D. F., Mexico, furnished the following information: 

He could not recall specifically the trip which he sade 

on September 26-27, 1963, from Nuevo Laredo to Mexico City, 

because he has made numerous trips and seen a large number of 

passengers since that time, He was shown the baggage list 

recording the names of some of the passengers on that trip and 

stated he is not acquainted with any of the names and does not 

know any of the persons listed. He was unable to identify 

photographs of OSWALD and of JOHN HOWARD BOWEN, true name 

ALBERT OSBORNE. MORALES stated that his co-driver from Monterrey 

to Mexico City usually is ALFREDO\GARCIA‘CERVANTES, who resides 

in_Mexico City, address unknown to him. \. rs 
—————— Cannes - at . 

On May 14, 1964, ALEJANDROYSAUCEDO, manager of the 

Mexico City terminal of "Servicios Unidos Autobuses Blancos 

Flecha Roja, S. A. de C. V." (The Unified Services of white 

Autobuses Red Arrow, Incorporated), Calle Heroes Ferrocarrileros 

45, provided the following information witb respect to the Flecha 

Roja baggage manifest mentioned above: 

The baggage list reflects it was prepared for bus 

No. 516, which departed from Nuevo Laredo, Tamaulipas, at 

2:00 p.m., September 26, 1963, driven by ROBERTO MORALES, The 

number "18" encircled at the bottom of the list indicates that 

18 pieces of baggage were checked and baggage claim checks 

issued for storage and handling in the baggage compartment of 

the bus and revision by Mexican Customs. 

SAUCEDO affirmed that the number of passengers depart- 

ing on the bus from Nuevo Laredo is not specified on the baggage 

list and that only the persons who check and become responsible 

for one or more articles of baggage are listed thereon. He 

pointed out that unaccompanied baggage also may be sent in this 

manner and the presence of a name on the baggage list does no 

insure that the person actually traveled on the bus. . 
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(L) Interview of ERNESTO HERNANDEZ, co-driver of -3 
Flecha Roja (Red Arrow) Bus No, 516 from Nuevo * ~ 
Laredo to Mexico City on September 26 to 27, 1963 

T-12, a confidential source abroad, advised on 
April 21, 1964, that ERNESTO HERNANDEZ, co-driver of Flecha 
Roja (Red Arrow) bus No. 516 on September 26 to 27, 1963, from 
Nuevo Laredo to Hexico, D. F., HWexico, furnished the following: 

He resides at Aldama No. 4, Tizayuca, Hidalgo, Mexico, 
and for the past nine years he has been employed as a bus driver 
for the Flecha Roja bus company, 

He has no independent recollection of having been 
the co-driver of bus No. 516 on September 26 to 27, 1963, but 
when his recollection was refreshed, he stated that for the 

first and only time he had been the co-driver for ROBERTO 

MORALES on bus No. 516 on the trip from Nuevo Laredo to Mexico, 
D. F,, on September 26 to 27, 1963. He normally does not work 
as a cO-driver with MORALES but did recall having substituted 
for MORALES' regular partner, ALFREDO GARCIA CERVANTES. 

He was unable to identify the photographs of OSWALD 
and JOHN HOWARD BOWEN. He could not associate OSWALD with 
anyone he might have seen in the past, He had seen photographs 
of OSWALD in the newspapers following the assassination of 
President XENNEDY but he did not associate OSWALD with anyone 
he has seen. 

He was shown the baggage list for passengers for the 
above trip and he did not know any of the names on this list... 
He advised that it was difficult for him to distinguish one 
trip from another or to recall individual passengers in the 

absence of a particular incident which might occur: on a trip. 

He could not recall the above-mentioned trip made by bus No, 

516, the portions of the trip during which MORALES had operated 
the bus or between what points he, HERNANDEZ, had driven the bus, 

He could not furnish any data to assist in identifying 
OSWALD as being a passenger aboard Flecha Roja bus No. 516 on 

September 26 to 27, 15933. oo 
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III, OSWALD IN MEXICO CITY my 

(A) “New York Times" Newspaper Account Fs 

The Western Edition of the "New York Times," 

dated December 3, 1963, carried an article by Corresponden 
PETER*XIHSS, which is reproduced hereinunder and reports 

information purportedly gleaned by the correspondent in 

Mexico Citys 
eS 

@
 

“OSWALD FOLLOWED LONELY PATH DURING 
RECENT VISIT TO MEXICO 

“Inquiry Finds $30 Could Have Covered 
All Expenses of Month-Long Trip 

-- His Travels Are Detailed 

“By PETER KIHSS 

"Special to The New York Times 

"MEXICO CITY, Dec. 2--More lonely steps along the 

trail of iZ2 BH. OSYALD in the last autumn of his 

life came to light today. 

“Evidence turned up concerning the trip that 

OSWALD made here in late September and early 

October presented a picture consistent with that 

pertaining to other periods in the life of the 

accused assassin of President XENNEDY. 

‘The Mexican Ministry of the Interior disclosed 

that the results of its intensive police inves- 

tigation had indicated that OSWALD was alone 

here. The ministry's findings have been trans- 

mitted to United States authorities. 

“Indeed few mysteries remained as to OSTALD‘s 

trip hore, following painstaking inquiry. The 

investigation disclosed that the often impecunious 

OSYALD could have financed his entire trip to 

Mexico sept. 26 to Oct. 23 with less than $30-- 
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2 thus apparently disposing of the question of 
where he could have obtained substantial funds 
for the trip. 
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"Newsmen identified the bus line on which OS¥éLD 
traveled from Nuevo Laredo, across the (border) 
to this capital and back. It was Transportes 
Frontera. 

"At its office on Buenavista Street, a clerk, 
LUCID LOPEZ, said the Mexican police had been 
given the lists of passengers on that run that 
the line keeps. 

"Investigators were understood also to have 
checked a number of the guests who were at the 
Hotel Comercio, the hotel where OSW.LD stayed. 
He was the only American among a clientele 
composed mostly of Mexicans and a few Cubans, 
the latter apparently exiles. 

"The Cuban Foreign Ministry has confirmed that 
OS'!ALD, while in Mexico City, sought a Cuban 
visa on wept. 27 as a transit traveler to the 
Soviet Union. The ministry said that when 
OSWALD was told the consulate could not issue 
such a visa without Havana authorization, he 
left ‘visibly displeased.‘ The ministry also 
said such a visa would not be granted unless a 
visa had been previously issued by the country 
of destination. , 

“et Delay on Soviet Visa   
"The Mexican Interior Ministry said OSWALD‘'s 
effort later to get a Soviet visa had also been 
met with a consular statement that there would 
have to be a delay. A Mexican official said 
OsYALD told the Cubans and the Russians he was 

a Communist who had lived two years in the Soviet 
Union and had married a Russian woman. 

   

ee
 

ir
e 

ah 
0 O
n
c
o
r
 

nys
 op

al
 W

e 
men

e 
RN 

en
 

: 
Pop 
P
e
t
 

be
e 
N
g
 

Ne
 
D
e
t
e
r
 k 

en
 

’ 
e
n
e
 >
 

a
 a i 

j | - 3 - 2 
! SECRET : " 

  

$ 

G
u
t
 

wa
e 

x 

. r 

a
e
.
 

” 
’ 

" 

° 

=



» 
B
e
e
 y 

: - > 
: \? . oe) | 

a SECSET , . 

- 
& 

. - 

t “The police investigation was repurted to have 5 

: found no indication that OS¥/LD had visited oo 

1 anyone else of political interest. cue 
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“Cuban exiles opposed to the regime of Premier 

FIDEL CASTRO have been trying to check on 

OS7..LD's activities here. So far they have not 

turned up anything of consequence. This is a 

sprawling city of nearly five million inhabitants 

but even in this multitude OOWALD's tracks have 

been uncovered. 
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“OSTZLD took a 2:30 P.M. bus Thursday, Sept. 26, 

i from Nueva Laredo for the 750-mile trip scheduled 

; to end here Friday, Sept. 27, at 8:30 P.M, The 

one-way fare on the Frontera line is $5.71 at the 

exchange rate of 124 Mexican pesos a dollar. 
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i “There are at least two-score of what Mexicans 

: call humble hotels within a radius of five 

blocks of the bus terminal, OSW.LD appears to 

have been fortunate to have found the well-kept 

Comercio on block-long Bernardo de Sahaguan 

Street, named for a Spanish colonial missionary 

who befriended Indians. 

"For 16 pesos a day--$1.28--he got room No, 18, 

with private bath, in the four-story glazed 

red brick hotel. 
zy oo 

"SES OTTLNY EREZYSEANANDEZ, desk clerk, said 
OSWZLD had‘arrived alone and had left early 

in the morning and come back late at night. 

He had no visitors. 

“The hotel proprietor, GUILLERUO G..RCIi, was 

shocked when investigators found OSTALD tg 

signature on the registry. Mr. GARCIA admired 

President KENNEDY as a friend of Mexico and a 

Roman Catholic. He had never connected the 

name of his guest with the assassination. 
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"osi.:LU had one leather suitcase, about two oo. 
feet long. He wore short-sleeved shirts. He = 
talked only briefly with the night watchman : 
and the chambermaid, in Jpanishb. 
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"Next to the hotel is the ltinchroom La Esperanza, 
Mrs, DCLORSSYRNIREZ DE“3ARRERO, a widow who has 
run the neat eating place for six months, re- 
membered having seen OSWALD three or four days. 
She said he had eaten there only once. 

“A Chop for 21 Cents 

"He had a lunch of steak and rice, which came 
to about 26 cents. The costliest item on the 
bill of fare is a chop, cooked to taste, for 
about 21 cents. 

irs, BRREID said CJV.LD's Spanish had been 
hard to understand and he had eaten alone, in 
silence. 

“Newsmen calculated that OLUWALD could have 

stayed within $8 for meals in Mexico for eight 

days. He paid $11.42 for bus fare, $6.40 for 
five days' rent and 50 cents for a special 
15-day tourist card he got in New Orleans 
Sept. 17. These figures add up to $26.32. 

"On the same block with the hotel are a number 

of modest apartment houses. Across the way is 

a parking lot. At the end of the street is a 

typical little park, with stone benches, The 

neighborhood is the Guerrero District, largely 

commercial. 

“O5'.LD left Mexico City on Wednesday, Oct. 2, 
on a Frontera bus that was scheduled to depart 

at 1 P.M. and arrive at Nueva Laredo at 6330 

A.M. Thursday, Oct. 3. 

"A jlexican Interior Ministry official suggested 
that OSV.LO might have spent most of his tine 
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here, which included 2 weekend, as a tourist, 

perhaps also taking in some movies. 

"It is believed OOVALD left New Orleans on Sept. 24, 
after having sent his wife to Dallas the previous 

-day with a friend. He vanished from his cheap 

apartment there on that day without having paid 

bis rent. 

‘He is believed to have hitchhiked to Laredo on 

the American side of the border, where he arrived 

Sept. 26. It was his custom to travel by hitch- 

hiking wherever possible. 

“It was presumed that he probably hitchhiked north . 

to Dallas from Laredo on his return from Mexico 

City. Ke arrived in Dallas the evening of Oct. 3 

and checked into the Dallas YMCA. The distance 

from Laredo to Dallas is 475 miles." 
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Diplomatic Establishments - 
(B) OSWALD's Visits to Cuban and Soviet og 

Investigation by Mexican Authorities “Z 

      

er _ cai at ae 
“e made available a copy of a signec 
been made by SILVIA DURAN to the Federal 

Security Police on November 23, 1963. A translation fron 

Spanish of that statement is recorded hereinunder: 

      

"at the City of Mexico, Federal District, at 

6:00 p.m. of November 23, 1963, the undersigned, 

Captain FERNANDO GUTIERREZ BARRIOS, Assistant 

Director of the Federal Security (Police), 
proceeding legally with witnesses present, makes 

record: that with the presentation in this 

office of Mrs. SILVIA TIRADO DE DURAN for the 

purpose of being interrogated concerning the 

matters which are herein set forth, this document 
was prepared: 

“Promptly upon the presentation of the person who 

under normal conditions is called SILVIA”TIRADO 

q DE DURAN, having been warned to tell the truth 

- and advised of the penalties which are incurred 

a . by those who furnish false testimony, described -- 

i herself as follows: that her name is as recorded, ro 

l 7 25 years of age, married, without religious . -- 

preference, an employee, literate, a native and 

resident of this city, with domicile at 

Constituyentes #143, Apartment #3, with respect ’ 

to the matters under investigation declares: 

_ that she has been legally married to Mr. HORACIO 

7 DURAN NAVARRO since November 5, 1958, and is the - 

mother of a child named PATRICIA, who, at the 

present time, is three and one-half years of age; 

that in the month of July or August of 1961 the 

deponent was invited to join the Mexican-Cuban 

Institute of Cultural Relations, which, at that 
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time, was directed by Attorney AGUSTIN CUE 

CANOVAS, as a Coordinator, and, although she 

does not recall specifically who it was that 

recommended her, she can clarify that for some ° 

time previously she was friendly and visited 

with frequency the employees of the Cuban 

Embassy, being a personal friend of Ambassador 

POR DO, as well as the Cultural Attaches, 

TERESRSPROENZA and LUIS“ALVERU, as well as with 

the fecale employees; but principally with the 

secretary of’Consul EUSEBIO ASCUE, Miss 

| MARICARMEN’OLAVARRI, of Spanish nationality 

but a relative of ASCUE; that at the Institute 

the activities were exclusively of a cultural 

nature and were attended on occasions by the 

. afore-mentioned Cultural attaches and some 

' Cubans, but in a greater number by Mexicans, 

i always artists and intellectuals, without any 

political discussions, although she recalls 

that at the time of the October Cuban crisis 

in connection with the threatened invasion of 

Cuba and the subsequent blockade of the island 

by the North American Government, they listened 

by shortwave radio to the news from the *Prensa 

Latina' (Latin Press), on the basis of which they 

made up a bulletin which was read of the news 

that they bad listened to directly from Havana, 

agreeing also to the effect that Cubans and 

Mexicans attending said meetings discussed the .- 

political problem of Cuba on a private basis 

' without doing 60 in any official character; that 

the declarant was receiving a salary of 500 

pesos ($40 U.S.) monthly in her capacity as 

Coordinator at the Institute, with her work 

schedule being from 4:00 to 8:00 p.m. daily, and 

the money for the maintenance of the Institute . 

itself coming from a monthly subsidy from the 

Cuban Embassy, the amount of which she is not 

aware, but also with each one of the members 

paying a quota, and also contributions were 

‘received from persons whose names she does not 
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recall because usually they were made anonymously, | _.
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74 being unable to fix the monthly receipts, as 
5 { although she was the person who personally _. 

¢ received all of the funds received at the 
yo. Institute; that in’addition to the speaker, tale. 

| only Mr. FELIPE)ROJAS, who worked as a va 
: secretary at the Institute during the mornings, 
i received any monthly salary in the same amount 

3 
4 

t
y
 

ed
ad
 

@ 
: 

  

of 500 pesos ($40 U.S.), with the remainder of 
the money which was received being used for the 
payment of rent and other expenses connected 
with its operation. That in the month of 
December of 1961, the declarant and her husband 
made a trip by air to Havana, Cuba, paying for 
their own transportation, but all of their 
expenses of their visit to that city and the 
greater number of the cities of the island being 
paid by the Cuban Institute of Friendship with 

: the People and the House of Culture, so-called, 
: fof the Americas,’ the trip having lasted fifteen 

days without their having any contact or con-~ 
nection during this trip with officials of the 
Cuban Government. That as the speaker has already 
stated, she has been a sympathizer of socialism 
and Marxist doctrine for several years, having 
studied philosophy and existentialism, and 
particularly she has sympathized since its 
inception and sympathizes with the Cuban Revolution. 
That approximately three months ago she began to 

; occupy the position of Secretary to the Cuban 
: Consul in this city, Mr. EUSEBIO ASCUE, who -- 
‘ ceased to function in that capacity some five days 

ago on Monday, the 18th of this month, having 
‘ been substituted by Mr. ALFREDO MIRAVAL Y DIAZ, 

Clarifying at this time that from the beginning 
she began to work in that capacity as a temporary 
measure as a result of the death in a traffic 
accident of her friend, MARICARMEN OLAVARRI, who 
had been occupying that position, until some person 
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   ¢ should arrive from Cuba who would assume the same, 
4 having had under her responsibility the adminis- 

: trative operation and preparing the visas which 
are issued, as well as handling the applications 
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Ninistry of Foreign Relations, Government of . - 
Cuta, for its approval, having obtained this | “tr 
position directly from former Consul ASCUE, with 
whom she is very friendly, and for whom the 
speaker even organized a farewell party in her 
home, which was attended by almost all of the 
officials and employees of the Embassy and the 
Consulate, except the Ambassador. That the 
speaker does not belong to any political party 
and never has attended manifestations or meetings, 
oor has she given lectures or speeches, which her 
husband has done, since he has written several 
articles for the newspaper 'El Dia’ (The Day) 
(pro-Communist Spanish language newspaper pub- 
lished in Mexico City); that she has never been 
arrested for any reason, nor even on the occasion | 
of the visit to Mexico of Mr, JOHN F,. KENNEDY, 
which caused her a great deal of personal satis~ 
faction because of the benefits which it would 
represent to the country, That yesterday while 
sbe was working at the Cuban Consulate, where she 
is employed from 10:00 to 2300 and from 4:00 to 
6300 p.m. daily and where she receives a salary 
of 1,500 pesos ($120 U.S,) monthly, just before 
their time of departure at noon, a friend commented 
to her that she had been listening to the radio 
and heard a news item to the effect that President 
KENNEDY had suffered an attack in which they had 
fired three shots at him, as a result of which she 
called her husband on the telephone and they dise- .. 
cussed this news, and he advised her that he 
already knew about it and referred to said attack 
as ‘monstrous,’ and they agreed that upon meeting 
at their home they would discuss the matter, which 
they did during their dinner hour, but in a very 
brief manner since they did not know all the 
circumstances of the attack and the name and 
description of the presumed author of the same, 
its having been only that night that they read 
in the extra (edition) the news relating thereto, 
and subsequently on the radio at her residence she 
heard the name of LEE HARVEY OSWALD, which caused 
her to remember that this name refers to a North 
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American who in the last days of September or 
the first days of the month of October of the 
present year appeared at the Cuban Consulate and 
applied for a visa to Cuba in transit to Russia 
and based his application on his presentation 
of his passport in which it was recorded that 
he had been living in the latter country for a 
period of three years, his work permit from that 
same country written in the Russian language and 
letters in the same language, as well as proof 
of his being married to a woman of Russian — 
nationality and being the apparent Director in 
the city of New Orleans of the organization called 
"Fair Play for Cuba’ with the desire that he 
should be accepted as a ‘friend’ of the Cuban 
Revolution, as a result of which the speaker, in 
compliance with her duties, received all of his 
data and filled out the appropriate application, 
and he left to return in the afternoon, this 
time with his photographs, and the speaker, 
recognizing that she exceeded her duties, semi- 
officially called the Russian Consulate by 
telephone because of her interest in facilitating 
the handling of the Russian visa for LEE HARVEY 
OSWALD, but from there they answered her that the 
operation would require approximately four months, 
which annoyed the applicant, since as he affirmed 
he was in a great hurry to obtain the visas which 
would permit him to travel to Russia, insisting 
that he was entitled to them because of his backe 
ground and his partisanship and personal activities 
in favor of the Cuban movement, the declarant's 
not being able to specify because she does not 
remember whether or not he said that he was a 
member of the Communist Party, but that his wife, 
of Russian nationality, was at that time in the 
city of New York from where she would follow hin, 
although his place of origin was the afore-mentioned 
city of New Orleans; that as soon as OSWALD under- 

stood that it was not possible to give him a Quban 
visa without his previously obtaining a Russian one, 
because the former was for transit, he became highly 
agitated and angry, aS a result of which the 
speaker called Consul ASCUE, who, at that time, was 
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in his private office in company of his ultimate . 

replacement, MIRAVAL, but came out and began to nied 

argue in English with OSWALD in a very angry Does 

manner and ASCUE concluded by saying to hin that, .- 

‘As far as he was concerned, he would not give . 

him a visa,’ and that ‘A person like him, in 

place of aiding the Cuban Revolution, was doing 

it harm,’ its being noted that in their discussion 

they had been referring to the Russian socialist 

revolution and not the Cuban, its being stated 

by OSWALD that he had two reasons to request the 

visa with urgency, which were, one, that his 

permit to be in Mexico was expiring and the other 

that he had urgent necessity of reaching Russia; 

that in spite of the argument the speaker handed 

to OSWALD a piece of paper similar to that which 

she writes at this time in which she recorded 

her name, ‘SILVIA DURAN,‘ and the telephone 
number of the Consulate, which is '11-28-47,° and, 

at any rate, she initiated the handling of his 

vis2 application, by sending it to the Cuban 

Ministry of (Foreign) Affairs, from which a reply 

w2s received in the normal manner some fifteen 

to thirty days later approving the issuance of 

a visa, but conditioning it on his previously 

obtaining the Russian (one), although she does 

not recall whether OSWALD subsequently called 

her or not on the telephone for the Consulate 

which she had given him; that all of the conver- 

sation which the speaker had with OSWALD, as .- 

well as that of Consul ASCUE with him, was in 
the English language since he did not speak any 

Spanish, and that upon seeing his photograph 

which appears in today's newspapers, specifically 

in the newspaper ‘El Dia,’ she immediately 

recognized and identified it as being the same 

person that she has been referring to as LEE 

HARVEY OSWALD. That on only one occasion the 

declarant attended a reception ceremony at the 

Russian Embassy which was given on the occasion 

of the visit of the astronauts, GAGARIN and 

TERESHKOVA, on the personal invitation which the 
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speaker received from the Russian Consul YACXSOV 4. 
when the latter visited ASCUE and MIRAVAL and ee 
delivered to them their respective invitations = ,j.3 
at the Cuban Consulate. That with respect to ee 
her in-laws, LIDIA and RUBEN\ DURAN“NAVARRO, the 
former on various occasions attended with the 
declarant the meetings which were being held at 
the Institute, whereas the latter only did so 
On one or two occasions in connection with | 
exhibits of paintings and with respect to BETY 

» SERRATO-AZUCAR, the wife of RUZEN, she has always 
‘Yemained aloof from these activities, although 
all of them are of leftist ideology but do not 
actively participate in any activities; that 
BARBARA ANN BLITS-TRESMOND-ESQUIVEL and AGATA 

_7ROSENO-GARCIA are friends of BETY and the speaker 
“has known them very little and Superficially, 
as a result of which she knows nothing about 
their activities and ideologies, and in connection 
with the gentleman who she now knows is named 
BENTLEY, she had never seen him before and 
supposes that he is a friend of BARBARA, since 
she noticed that he was talking to BARBARA when 
they were dining at the home of the deponent, 
being present her husband, AGATA and LIDIA, 
whereas the others were at the home of her brothere 
in-law, RUBEN. That she has nothing further to 
declare and after reading the above, she ratifies 
and signs the margins in evidence thereof. -* 
The above document is closed authorized and 
witnessed. 

a 

Signed, Assistant Director of Federal Security, 
Captain FERNANDO GUTIERREZ BARRIOS, 

Witnesses: Lic. (Atty.) FERNANDO ORTIZ DE LA PENA; 
Lic. CARLOS DURAN LANZ." 
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